
 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee 
 
Thursday 1 October 2020 at 5.30 pm 

 
To be held as an online video conference 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
Please note change to start time of 
meeting 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Ben Curran (Chair), Tim Huggan (Deputy Chair), Sue Auckland, 
Penny Baker, Dawn Dale, Karen McGowan, Anne Murphy, Peter Price, 
Peter Rippon, Kaltum Rivers, Andrew Sangar, Richard Shaw, Vacancy, Vacancy 
and Vacancy 
 
Substitute Members 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee exercises an overview 
and scrutiny function in respect of the planning, development and monitoring of 
performance and delivery of services which aim to make Sheffield a safer, stronger 
and more sustainable city for all of its residents.  
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday.  You may not be allowed to see some reports 
because they contain confidential information.  These items are usually marked * on 
the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and recording is allowed under the direction of the Chair.  
Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for further information 
regarding public questions and petitions and details of the Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at council meetings. 
 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the 
Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked 
to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the 
meeting please report to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to 
the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information about this Scrutiny Committee, please contact 
Alice Nicholson, Policy and Improvement Officer, on 0114 2735065 or email 
alice.nicholson@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 

http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/
mailto:alice.nicholson@sheffield.gov.uk


 

 

 

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

1 OCTOBER 2020 
 

Order of Business 

 
1.   Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements 

 
 
2.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 
3.   Exclusion of Public and Press 
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the press 

and public 
 

4.   Declarations of Interest 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 

considered at the meeting 
 

5.   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 13th 

February, 2020. 
 

6.   Public Questions and Petitions 
 To receive any questions or petitions from members of the public 

 
7.   Update on Domestic and Sexual Abuse during Covid 19 
 Report of Alison Hughes, Strategic Commissioning Manager for Domestic 

and Sexual Abuse. 
 

8.   Work Programme 
 The Work Programme will be circulated by the Policy and Improvement 

Officer. 
 

9.   Date of Next Meeting 
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on a date to be arranged. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

 participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

 participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 

 leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

 make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

 declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, 
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes. 
 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

 Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or 
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority –  
 
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 2 

 

 Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 

 Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

 Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 

- the landlord is your council or authority; and  
- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 
 

 Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
your council or authority; and  
 

(b) either - 
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 
 

 it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 
are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 

Page 6



 3 

Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously. 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Audit and 
Standards Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and 
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 7

mailto:gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
 

Meeting held 13 February 2020 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Ben Curran (Chair), Tim Huggan (Deputy Chair), 

Sue Auckland, Penny Baker, Dawn Dale, Karen McGowan, Pat Midgley, 
Peter Price, Peter Rippon, Kaltum Rivers, Andrew Sangar and 
Richard Shaw 
 

 
   

 
1.   
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Councillor Anne Murphy. 
 
2.   
 

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

2.1 No items were identified where resolutions may be moved to exclude the public 
and press. 

 
3.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

3.1 Councillor Sue Auckland declared a personal interest in Item 8 on the agenda – 
Private Sector Housing Regulation and Selective Licensing Update (Item 7 of 
these minutes)  - on the grounds that she is a private sector landlord. 

 
4.   
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

4.1 The minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 24th October, 2019 and 
16th January, 2020, were approved as correct records. 

 
5.   
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 

5.1 There were no questions raised or petitions submitted by members of the public. 
 
6.   
 

HATE CRIME IN SHEFFIELD 
 

6.1 The Committee received a report and presentation providing an update on what is 
currently being carried out to address hate crime and incidents in the city.  The 
report also provided an overview of the national picture in relation to hate crime. 

  
6.2 Present for this item were Maxine Stavrianakos, Head of Neighbourhood 

Intervention and Tenant Support Services and Mark Seston, Performance and 
Partnership Manager, Safer Neighbourhood Service (SNS). 

  
6.3 Maxine Stavrianakos gave background information to the report and presentation.  

She said the Community Safety Partnership Hate Crime Co-ordinator was now in 
post and was looking at how people report hate crime and to raise awareness and 
develop a better understanding of hate crime and how it affects individuals and 
communities. She said that during the past year, events had been held to raise 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 2 of 7 
 

awareness of what hate crime was, training professional bodies to identify hate 
crime and there had been an attendance in school assemblies to educate students 
on how hate crime was committed and its effects on victims, families and wider 
communities.  Mrs. Stavrianakos said the definition of hate crime was any incident 
or criminal offence perceived to be motivated by hostility or prejudice towards a 
person, and could be for a number of different reasons such as race, religion, 
sexual orientation or disability.  She then referred to non-crime hate incidents 
whereby it was perceived that action against a victim was motivated by hostility but 
no criminal offence was committed.  She said that recently there had been an 
increase in “mate crime” which was the exploitation of vulnerable people and in 
particular, a rise in those who had been targeted by criminals through the obituary 
columns.  Mrs. Stavrianakos then referred to the hate crime strands as set out in 
the presentation and said that numbers of reported hate crime incidents were 
increasing year on year.  She stated that the Partnership had provided £10,000 in 
funding towards the “Stop Hate UK” campaign by providing a hate crime reporting 
line, but hate crime was greatly under reported and the main challenges facing the 
Partnership was to raise awareness as the public had a lack of understanding as 
to what hate crime was, were not aware of how to report it, had a lack of trust in 
reporting incidents to the police and the fear of reprisals if offenders were not dealt 
with. 

  
6.4 Members of the Committee made various comments and asked a number of 

questions, to which responses were given as follows:- 
  
  There are a number of ways people can report hate crime, either to the 

police, online, or through the city council’s webpage.  There are a number of 
ways it can be reported and a list would be provided to Members. 

  
  With regard to the incident of crime against someone in the Jewish 

community last summer, this was the first time anything of this nature had 
been reported and a meeting is to be arranged with the Rabbi in Sheffield to 
ascertain whether this was an isolated case or whether there had been 
other occasions when incidents of hate crime against the Jewish community 
happened, but had not been reported. 

  
  It was acknowledged that there was a need to promote online and 

telephoning mechanisms including those that are "third party" and do not 
involve direct contact with the police.  There was a need to make sure this 
message was passed on to all agencies and departments. 

  
  In response to a comment from a Member who said that she had not seen 

any literature relating to the Stop Hate UK campaign for the last two years, it 
was acknowledged that, although proactive in the beginning, this was work 
in progress and it was accepted that more needed to be done to step up 
advertising the campaign and a better distribution of leaflets. 

  
  The police were unable to force victims to take matters further.  Victims 

were fearful that the police would name them to the perpetrators and there 
would be further reprisals for the victim and/or their family. 

  

Page 10



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 3 of 7 
 

  The Sheffield Community Safety Partnership were working with their 
counterparts in core cities and across South Yorkshire  who have 
encountered similar difficulties in encouraging people to report hate crime, 
with the aim of finding a solution to this. Work was also ongoing with 
Liverpool, who also use the Stop Hate UK reporting tool, to understand how 
they promote services. 

  
  Ongoing work is taking place with South Yorkshire Police to ensure that 

staff are provided with regular training on hate crime/incidents to enable 
them to monitor hate crime, identify emerging trends and intelligence, and 
take proactive steps to disrupt and prevent escalation. This work links into 
the partnership. The police command team also look at all hate related 
incidents/crimes on a daily basis to ensure appropriate action/escalation. 

  
  Training sessions can be arranged for Councillors on hate crime, equalities 

and prevent to assist them identifying possible hate crime victims within 
their communities, so they might be better placed to offer help and advice to 
victims and their families. 

  
6.5 RESOLVED: That this Committee:- 
  
 (a) thanks Maxine Stavrianakos and Mark Seston for their contribution to the 

meeting; and 
  
 (b) notes the contents of the presentation and report now submitted, and the 

responses to the questions raised, and the additional information to be 
supplied. 

 
7.   
 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING REGULATION AND SELECTIVE LICENSING 
UPDATE 
 

7.1 The Committee received a report and presentation giving an update on the 
London/ Abbeydale/Chesterfield Road Selective Licensing scheme. 

  
7.2 Present for this item were Janet Sharpe, Director of Housing and Neighbourhood 

Services and Catherine Hughes, Team Manager, Private Housing Standards. 
  
7.3 Janet Sharpe reported the progress to date of the Scheme, outlining the number 

of inspections that had been carried out, the number of properties that were 
compliant with the licence conditions and the number of properties where a 
serious hazard had been found. 

  
7.4 Catherine Hughes referred to the team structure of the Private Housing 

Standards Team (PHST), which, due to reductions in Government grants and 
austerity measures, had been reduced by around 60% over the past 10 years.  
She stated that the priority of the PHST was to protect some of the most 
vulnerable people living in private sector properties, but around 40% of those 
properties were built pre 1919 and the condition of those properties had 
deteriorated.  The most recent stock condition survey shows that 10,801 of 
private rented properties have a Category 1 hazard.  She said that the Private 

Page 11



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Sector Housing Service was ranked as one of the best in the country in 
supporting tenants, working closely with landlords to improve standards and take 
enforcement action against those landlords who flout the law and put tenants at 
risk.  She referred to the numbers of Houses in Multiple Occupation in the city 
and how the Team carry out inspections, issue licences and then renew such 
licences every five years. She also made reference to the number of asylum 
seeker properties across the city. 

  
7.5 Members made various comments and asked a number of questions, to which 

responses were given as follows:- 
  
  With regard to student accommodation, there were some 60,000 students 

across the city and when new schemes in the city centre are completed, 
the majority of students, if affordability allows, prefer to move into the 
newest properties, leaving the older schemes struggling to fill up and 
being under-occupied.   

  
  Some of the earlier built student accommodation blocks were purpose 

built and not fit for family use.  The service has been looking at some of 
the under-occupied blocks to see if they can be altered to make them fit 
for use.  

  
  With regard to cladding in tower blocks, the Government was doing a lot of 

work to remove the risk of fires following the disaster at the Grenfell Tower 
block.  The powers governing fire safety was shared between the Housing 
Service and the Fire Service. The Government has introduced a funding 
programme to make it easier for building owners to access resources to 
remove combustible cladding to their properties.  This work had been 
carried out to the Housing Service owned properties, but some private 
landlords were proactive in accessing the funding available and carrying 
out the works, others were slow to react, but it was hoped that all 
properties in Sheffield would be made safe during the next 12 months. 

  
  The Housing Service works in partnership with the majority of letting 

agencies in the city, providing help and advice to improve housing 
standards.  A lot depends on the arrangements that landlords have with 
their lettings agent, some agencies were given full responsibility, but it can 
be challenging to get landlords to co-operate. Where an unscrupulous 
landlord is exposed as providing sub-standard and dangerous 
accommodation, the City Council will take enforcement action against 
them.  The City Council are aware and monitor those landlords/agencies 
who do not act correctly and responsibly. The Service also provides 
guidance for landlords and managers who hold licences for houses in 
multiple occupation or who are licensed under the Selective Licensing 
Scheme.  

  
  Due to national policy changes, a student housing strategy was being 

developed. This strategy will explore the potential impact of these changes 
on the existing and future student accommodation provision in Sheffield.  
The city has a mixed accommodation offer for students, with an increasing 

Page 12



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 5 of 7 
 

amount of Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) and whilst 
demand for PBSA was continuing to grow, existing stock was still not at 
full occupancy and there was a risk that the provision of more PBSA will 
lead to oversupply and older blocks falling empty.  It was hoped that this 
and housing plans for the city as a whole would be known by the end of 
the summer.  

  
  There has been a lot of work carried out by the Director of Housing and 

Neighbourhood Services, along with the respective Cabinet Members, 
regarding the Strategic Housing Market Assessment which was now 
complete, but they are looking to see if there was a need to update some 
of the housing plans for the city so that they will be in a position to put 
forward a report to Cabinet on this by the end of the summer.  

  
  One of the challenges is around how to improve private rented houses 

across the city.  The Housing Service was working with landlords in order 
for them to improve the basic standards of their properties, particularly to 
many of the older properties’ thermal comfort.  Part of the city’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy was the need to ensure that those in poor health had 
access to decent housing, a warm and comfortable place to live and the 
aim was to see how properties could be improved and make sure that 
landlords were tackling Category 1 hazards to make sure that housing 
stock was up to an acceptable standard.  

  
  As can be seen from the results of the survey which has been carried out, 

some families don’t want the disruption of moving out of their properties 
whilst repairs were being carried out or even being rehoused.  The 
perception of some tenants was that “I’ve put up with it, so I’ll carry on with 
it”, so homes fall further into disrepair. 

  
  Part of the city’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy acknowledges the current 

shortage of affordable housing and that a number of owner-occupied and 
private rented properties across the city are classed as having an excess 
cold hazard due to a mix of financial hardship and poor property 
conditions, and work was ongoing to address this. 

  
  The introduction of Selective Licensing into an area can bring widespread 

benefits to the local community, by ensuring that all privately rented 
property within the designated area was safe and well managed, but the 
Scheme was costly to manage so there was a need to determine which 
area would benefit more from the Selective Licensing. The aim was for the 
Licensing and Enforcement Team to visit every property in the designated 
area to ascertain the condition of the property, assess it and make sure it 
was fit for purpose and only when that was completed, move on to the 
next area. The aim was to look at where the most serious cases were and 
deal with them before moving on to the next difficult area.  Consultation 
with all affected people, such as tenants, residents, landlords, managing 
agents, businesses, Police, Fire Service, local councillors etc., needed to 
be held to determine whether the Scheme would be beneficial to the area.  
There was a need to deal with one area at a time rather than city-wide.  

Page 13



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 6 of 7 
 

  
  Landlords need to make sure that tenants dispose of their waste properly.  

The Housing Service works with the Environmental Health Service to 
serve notices on those who do not maintain their properties, although it 
was felt that if a fixed penalty notice has been served or fines issued, the 
landlord would pass the cost on to tenants. 

  
7.6 RESOLVED: That this Committee:- 
  
 (a) thanks Janet Sharpe and Catherine Hughes for their contribution to the 

meeting; 
  
 (b) notes the contents of the report and presentation now submitted together 

with the comments now made and the responses to the questions raised; 
and 

  
 (c) endorses the decision taken by the Cabinet at its meeting held 20th June, 

2018 to designate an area of London Road, Abbeydale Road and 
Chesterfield Road for the Selective Licensing of privately rented 
properties, and requests that:- 

  
 (i) an annual report, giving feedback on the Selective Licensing 

Scheme, to see more detail on a regular basis, be brought to this 
Committee; 

  
 (ii) the Scheme be extended to other areas of the City; and 
  
 (iii) the Cabinet Member for Transport and Development continue to 

work with the Director of Housing and Neighbourhood Services 
relating to Page Hall. 

  

 
8.   
 

PAGE HALL SELECTIVE LICENSING REVIEW 
 

8.1 The Committee received a report which outlined the outcome of the work which 
had been carried out by the Private Housing Standards Team (PHST) during the 
Selective Licensing Scheme which came into operation in April, 2014, in the 
Page Hall area of the city and ended in April 2019.  The report which was 
presented was produced in 2018, which was four years into the scheme.  There 
has been a lot of activity in Page Hall and the PHST had engaged with local 
schools, the MAST team and Adult Social Care workers.  Initially, there were 
some landlords that didn’t want their properties to become part of the scheme, so 
they sold up.  However, the majority of landlords worked with the PHST and 
carried out the necessary works to the properties to ensure they were compliant.  
Where landlords did not carry out necessary works, enforcement action was 
taken.  Common issues remaining in the area were around waste, how 
properties were managed and the level of rents people are paying.  Councillor 
Paul Wood, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and Community Safety, has 
asked that the PHST be involved in matters of waste and waste in housing.  
Everything that needed to be licensed was licensed and the works that needed to 

Page 14



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
13.02.2020 

Page 7 of 7 
 

be done had been carried out.  It has been found that there were some issues in 
the area immediately around Page Hall and these were being investigated. 

  
8.2 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) notes the contents of the report now submitted together with the 

comments now made and the responses to the questions raised; and 
  
 (b) expressed their thanks to Catherine Hughes and the Private Sector 

Housing Team and the Housing Service for their help and assistance on 
cases within their areas.  They wanted to thank the team for their 
professionalism and helpfulness. 

 
9.   
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 
 

9.1 The Committee received a report of the Policy and Improvement Officer (Alice 
Nicholson), attaching the Committee’s Work Programme for 2019/20.  She 
provided an update on the outstanding items of business. 

  
9.2 RESOLVED: That the Committee approves the Work Programme as detailed in 

the report and agrees that the following items of business be brought to the next 
meeting:- 

  
  Community Safety Partnership Annual Report. 
  
  Update on Housing +. 
 
10.   
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

10.1 It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Thursday, 
12th March, 2020 at 5.00 p.m., in the Town Hall. 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 1 

 

 
 

 
Report of: Strategic Commissioning Manager for Domestic and 

Sexual Abuse  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Update on Domestic and Sexual Abuse during Covid 19 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Alison Higgins 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  

The paper provides a summary of the current situation with regard to Domestic 
and Sexual Abuse and the impact on these issues during the Covid 19 
Pandemic.  

__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee X 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
1. Note the issues caused by the COVID crisis, and  
2. Discuss the implications relating to the impact on services relating to 

domestic and sexual abuse. 
___________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
1.  
 
Category of Report: OPEN  

Report to Safer and Stronger 
Communities Committee 

1st October 2020  

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



 2 

 

Page 18



1 
 

Domestic and Sexual Abuse Summary 

How the Covid-19 crisis has impacted on people in Sheffield’s experience of 

domestic and sexual abuse  

Domestic and Sexual Abuse are likely to be impacting greatly on people as a result of the pandemic 
because these issues are often (but not always) perpetrated by people in the family home. The 
pandemic has meant:  
• Increased time at home 
• Increased time in close proximity to the person causing harm 
• Increased emotional and financial stress 
• Increased isolation 
• Reduced family and social support 
• Increased risk of debilitating illness 
 
Access to support was difficult for people during lockdown and referrals to domestic and sexual 

abuse services dipped initially. However since June, as lockdown eased, referrals to IDAS, the 

provider of the city’s helpline and community based support services, have risen by 11% compared 

to last year, with cases assessed as being at high risk of serious harm or homicide up by a quarter.  

The service is now receiving an average of 104 referrals a week.  

Homelessness presentations from March to July this year where the main reason was loss of home 

due to domestic abuse rose by 28.4% from the same period last year: 211 presentations in 2019 and 

271 in 2020. 

The Sheffield Safeguarding Hub – the Council’s front door for reporting concerns about children – 

saw a reduction in contacts from 2130 in February this year to 1682 in May. However domestic 

abuse cases rose from being 22% of contacts in February to 29% in May. 

Health services such as the Emergency Department at the Teaching Hospitals Trust initially reported 

a slump in domestic abuse cases coming through however domestic abuse related presentations 

have risen again as lockdown has eased.  Midwifery services have however reported that they have 

seen some increase in disclosures during scan appointments etc. as partners are now not allowed to 

accompany women to these appointments. Conversely, where appointments have been at home 

there have been more issues seeing women alone in order to ask routine enquiry questions.  

Sexual abuse and violence referrals to services also fell initially but have started to return to normal 

levels.  Sexual abuse, assaults and violence are usually perpetrated by someone the victim/survivor 

knows, and this can be a partner, ex-partner, family member etc. as sexual abuse is also a feature of 

domestic abuse and therefore lockdown will have impacted on victims/survivors in similar ways. 

Access to therapeutic and mental health support became difficult during lockdown. It has meant 

that for those who were already in support / treatment their recovery has been interrupted and for 

those traumatised during lockdown they face an even longer wait than before to access therapy or 

counselling. This is compounded by already existing issues with lack of capacity and unclear local 

pathways in relation to therapeutic support for survivors of domestic and /or sexual abuse 

 
The lockdown that began in March had the unintentional effect of enabling perpetrators of 

domestic abuse to increase their control over their victims/survivors, and their children (many of 

whom were not at school), as their tactics of isolation, removing independence and regulation of 

Page 19



2 
 

behaviour, usually backed up by threats and intimidation, were now effectively legitimised by the 

state. People living in domestic abuse situations will have felt that their routes for accessing support 

had been closed off – they could not contact agencies, see the professionals they may have been in 

touch with, family and friends were out of bounds, they may have been working from home or 

furloughed and the perpetrator may have been too.  This form of abuse, Coercive Control, has long 

lasting impacts on victims/survivors and their children but is often not identified when incidents of 

abuse are reported to the police or other agencies. Professionals then tend to take the view that if 

there hasn’t been another reported physical incident then the abuse must have stopped.  

As lockdown eased in June referrals rose as victims/survivors began to make contact with agencies 

again and / or worried friends, family and neighbours alerted services.  Indications are that this 

upward trend, although uneven, will continue as lockdown continues to ease.  High risk cases 

showed the biggest rise in June – up by over a quarter on the previous year. This indicates that the 

severity of domestic abuse has increased in lockdown and it is likely that situations have escalated 

more rapidly during this time as well. 

COVID itself has been used to victimise people. Spitting at people, using the threat of infection, 

flagrant breaching  or threats to report people to authorities for breaching stay at home guidance 

and depriving them of their liberty have all been more common factors raised at Multi Agency Risk 

Assessment Conference meetings (that consider people at high risk of serious harm or homicide 

because of domestic abuse) since lockdown.   

A key pressure during lockdown and since has been the difficulties in accessing safe 

accommodation. Refuge spaces and move on accommodation, including the additional temporary 

dispersed capacity commissioned locally and then expanded as part of the CV19 response, are 

mostly full up. 

Voluntary sector support services have all responded quickly to the lockdown and found creative 

ways of maintaining contact with clients e.g. through the use of webchat, zoom, WhatsApp, through 

socially distanced walks etc. Staff continued to be onsite at the refuges during lockdown to offer 

reassurance and support. They have also been able to bid for substantial government funding that 

was not available to local authorities to support changes in service delivery.  

Digital exclusion is a key concern - while some service users have welcomed WhatsApp calls or 

coffee mornings by zoom etc. others do not have access to equipment, cannot afford to use it or do 

not have Wi-Fi, do not have the skills, or perhaps most importantly for this client group - do not have 

somewhere safe and confidential to use it. If you are isolated at home with your abusive partner you 

may not be able to use online means to access support. This is a particular issue for young people 

seeking support who may have even less access to digital resources or private space, and for 

younger children, support is not possible if offered remotely.  

During lockdown long term emotional harm risk to children and young people is a concern due to 

them living with domestic abuse and not having access to normal support mechanisms (school, 

friendship groups, family members etc.).  SAYiT the local specialist LGBT+ young people’s service 

report that LGBT young people have been  more at risk of abuse when living in lockdown with 

homophobic family members. As children return to school in the autumn teachers need to be 

supported to recognise the impact of abuse and how they can adopt a trauma informed approach in 

managing behaviours.  

A new model of working with families affected by domestic abuse has started to be introduced 

during lockdown. The Safe and Together model is one that is a child centred; a strengths based 

Page 20

https://safeandtogetherinstitute.com/


3 
 

approach that seeks to develop the capacity and understanding of practitioners to safely respond to 

domestic abuse by partnering with the non-abusing parent.  It strengthens the ability of services to 

understand how the perpetrator is creating harm or the risk of harm to children. This perpetrator 

pattern based aspect of the model ensures that fathers who are perpetrators will be held to the 

same standard of parenting expectations as mothers.   

There have also been concerns raised, particularly by the Children’s NHS Foundation Trust that child 

to parent abuse has risen during lockdown – systems are not in place to quantify this however. 

The proportion of males presenting as homeless due to domestic abuse has risen during lockdown 

by 71% from 24 to 41 between March and July. The SafeZones dispersed safe accommodation 

project has enabled 3 men to access safe housing during the lockdown period.  

The proportion of IDAS service users that identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual increased during 

lockdown compared with last year: from 2.6% to 3.8%. This may be linked to the work that SAYiT 

have been conducting for the city through the Call it Out project which aims to increase awareness 

of LGBT+ people’s experience of domestic abuse and increase the skills and confidence of 

professionals – specialist and non specialist in responding. 

The proportion of IDAS service users who are BAME has fallen during lockdown. The pandemic and 

lockdown have potentially increased barriers to accessing support amongst the BAME community. 

Specialist agencies have reported that some BAME women are likely to more be more isolated and 

have less access to usual supportive agencies and / or technology to help them access support.  They 

may also have less access to information about support agencies in their own languages.  The higher 

level of incidence of COVID 19 in the BAME community has also raised issues – e.g. the risk of 

isolation and coercive control by family members could be heightened as they argued that the 

victim/survivor should not leave the household to go to work for fear of them being exposed to 

COVID in the workplace and bringing the virus back to the home. One mother who did not speak 

English told a service that she believed her abusive husband  when he told her she wasn’t allowed to 

leave the home because the government wouldn’t  allow it due to COVID, she would have her child 

removed and she would be arrested.  

During lockdown, employees that are experiencing domestic abuse may be more at risk due to 

isolation and the abuser using lockdown to control them further. The pandemic has made it clear 

how important it is that agencies have policies in place to support staff affected by domestic abuse 

– Business in the Community updated their toolkit for employers in April.  

The voluntary perpetrator programme Inspire to Change  has seen increased issues for their clients 

with regard to substance misuse during the pandemic – e.g. large rises in referrals relating to alcohol 

especially during the bank holiday periods of lockdown.  The service is running online drop ins, and 

has posted lots of digital content and videos via its YouTube channel, and uptake has been positive.   

Engagement with perpetrator support has increased as a result of a change in offer – many clients 

have preferred telephone assessments to attending a building for their initial contact with the 

service. This has meant an increase in successful completions from 26 in the whole of 2019/20 to 18 

in quarter one.  However the service was designed as a primarily group provision and therefore 

capacity is extremely stretched with most interventions now being one to one, and no COVID related 

government funds being made available to perpetrator focussed services. 

What we think we should do about it 

Page 21

https://sayit.org.uk/callitout/
https://www.bitc.org.uk/toolkit/covid-19-domestic-abusesupporting-employees/
http://www.inspiretochange.co.uk/


4 
 

The impact of lockdown is likely to be felt for some time for people impacted by domestic and sexual 

abuse, we are expecting that service capacity will be under pressure for several months at least. 

Voluntary sector services and specialist teams in statutory services (e.g. the Strengthening Families 

domestic abuse team) have been responsive and flexible during the pandemic. However domestic 

and sexual abuse were not created by the pandemic, and while these issues have no doubt had 

terrible impacts on individuals of all ages during lockdown but they did so beforehand as well. We 

need to continue with developing joined up multi agency responses to domestic and sexual abuse 

that take heed of emerging best practice and take a whole family approach. We must:  

Invest in services for all those impacted by domestic abuse – victims / survivors, children and 

perpetrators, and increase capacity where needed to ensure needs are met  

- Continue to commission good quality victim / survivor support services that have enough 

capacity to respond to the need in the city. The capacity of services is not enough to fully 

meet the needs of these victims/survivors.  

- Work to ensure that commissioned services meet the needs of all sections of the population, 

particularly BAME victims / survivors.  

- Increase the capacity of specialist therapeutic support for victims/survivors of domestic and 

sexual abuse and review and rationalise pathways to and from mental health services.  

- Ensure commissioned services are trained in suicide prevention.  

- Invest in voluntary support for perpetrators. Professionals must be trained to understand 

how to talk about domestic abuse with perpetrators in order to protect children and victims 

/ survivors – the Safe and Together model must be rolled out and embedded in practice.   

- Continue to promote awareness of services and how to access support, building on all that 

has been done during the pandemic including  continuing to identify safe spaces where 

people  can ask for support e.g. working with local businesses.  

- Promote digital inclusion including in safe spaces – libraries, children’s centres, schools etc.  

Find ways of offering group work support to people who are digitally excluded.  

Ensure there is adequate provision of good quality, safe, appropriate emergency accommodation 

with specialist support 

- Maintain and grow the new dispersed safe accommodation offer (currently funded by a 

government grant) as this has proved vital when refuge provision filled up.  

- Consider providing more emergency safe accommodation for families with specialist support 

which can be accessed in an emergency that can flex and grow in times of emergency and / 

or consider remodelling existing provision.  

- Ensure better joined up working between support providers and housing so that move on is 

more streamlined  

Improve responses from agencies and employers  

- Ensure organisations have effective domestic abuse policies covering both clients and staff 

and include responding to victims/survivors but also perpetrators.  

- Encourage attitudinal change in relation to domestic abuse both in terms of the general 

public and of professionals.  Safe and Together will move the focus for agencies from ‘why 

doesn’t the victim leave’ to why doesn’t the perpetrator stop’. A greater understanding of 

coercive control and its impacts is still needed. This training should be mandatory for key 

Page 22



5 
 

professionals e.g. health, criminal justice agencies, voluntary sector providers, housing and 

social care.   

- Encourage all professionals and organisations to continue to work toward becoming trauma-

informed, to an approved standard. 

- Improve multi agency information sharing and creative joint working to increase 

engagement in support  

Prevent domestic and sexual abuse in the future by increasing understanding of the dynamics of 

abuse and the impact of trauma, and by branding Sheffield as a city where we foster healthy 

relationships  

- Encourage attitudinal change in relation to domestic abuse by the general public.  Attitudinal 

change and awareness of the issues could also be championed by key city leaders in order to 

provoke debate and discussion among the public.  

- Positively promote the importance of healthy respectful and nurturing relationships 

throughout the life course –as children, parents, in couples, as neighbours, as friends, as 

carers and as colleagues.  We should commit to making a statement about the importance 

of relationships as Rochdale has done in it’s Relationships Manifesto.  

- Ensure high quality Relationship and Sex Education is available in our educational settings.  

- Support the roll out of bystander projects such as the Glasgow model Mentors in Violence 

Prevention which builds the skills of young people to challenge their peers around bullying, 

harassment and controlling relationships.  

Work with national organisations and partners to raise national issues 

- Work with partners to pressure national government to ensure housing benefit is set at a 

level that helps secure access to private rentals and prevents growing arrears as a result of 

the pandemic.  The benefit cap must be lifted to ensure people receive the uplift in housing 

benefit and can flee domestic abuse to new tenancies they can afford.  

 

Page 23

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-02-12-relationship-manifesto-v1.pdf
https://www.svru.co.uk/mvp/
https://www.svru.co.uk/mvp/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



1 
 

COVID-19 RAPID HEALTH IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

TASK AND FINISH GROUP THEME:  

Summary of Theme:  

 Please provide a short description of the theme being reviewed by the task and finish group 
including what is in and out of scope.    

 

 

Domestic and sexual abuse – victims/survivors, perpetrators and children including sexual abuse  

 

 

Summary of impacts: 

 Please describe particularly significant impacts overall relating to this theme 

 Please highlight those specific population groups that have been differentially affected 

about by the response to Covid 19 relating to this theme.  Impacts could be current or 

predicted 

 Provide an indication of which issues/impacts the task and finish group feel should be given 

highest priority when developing the response to this HIA 

 
‘This pandemic creates a paradox as regards staying safe at home and it is one to which we should 
all pay attention. Governments across the globe have called upon us all to play our individual part in 
tackling COVID-19 by staying at home, but a critical mindfulness of what this means for many women 
and children is also important.’1 
 
Domestic Abuse is a particular concern during the COVID 19 pandemic because of :  
• Increased time at home 
• Increased time in close proximity to the person causing harm 
• Increased emotional and financial stress 
• Increased isolation 
• Reduced family and social support 
• Increased risk of debilitating illness 
 
The pandemic has highlighted the importance of understanding the dynamics of coercive control 
when responding to domestic abuse.  The public narrative around Domestic Abuse has tended to be 
associated with physical manifestations e.g. black eyes and bruises, and while physical violence is of 
course harmful and can lead to serious harm or loss of life (and it is likely the rate of domestic 
homicides will have increased during lockdown), the daily reality of living with domestic abuse is 
likely to be the experience of coercive control. This is abuse that removes the victim’s/ survivor’s 
‘space for action’2 through the micromanagement of everyday life and which creates a state of 
hypervigilance that is described as ‘walking on eggshells’. This liberty crime3 has long lasting impacts 
on victims/survivors and their children but is often not identified when incidents of abuse are 
reported to the police or other agencies. Professionals then tend to take the view that if there hasn’t 
been another reported physical incident then the abuse must have stopped.  

                                                           
1 The pandemic paradox: The consequences of COVID-19 on domestic violence Caroline Bradbury-Jones RN, 
PhD Louise Isham PhD 
2 Liz Kelly, 2003  
3 Evan Stark, 2009 

Page 25



2 
 

 
Coercive Control became a specific offence in 2015 (Section 76 of the Serious Crime and Victims Act) 
and is a key feature of the form of domestic abuse that Johnson4 called ‘intimate partner terrorism’ 
– the most dangerous form of domestic abuse. It is defined as follows:  

  Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 
intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim 

 Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or 
dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour 

The lockdown that began in March had the unintentional effect of enabling perpetrators of domestic 
abuse to increase their control over their victims/survivors, and their children (many of whom were 
not at school), as their tactics of isolation, removing independence and regulation of behaviour, 
usually backed up by threats and intimidation, were now effectively legitimised by the state. People 
living in domestic abuse situations will have felt that their routes for accessing support had been 
closed off – they could not contact agencies, see the professionals they may have been in touch 
with, family and friends were out of bounds, they may have been working from home or furloughed 
and the perpetrator may have been too. Referrals to Sheffield community support service IDAS 
where the victim/survivor is vulnerable as a result of isolation have increased from 0.7% of referrals 
last year to 2.9% during lockdown.  
 
To summarise the impact of coercive control in the pandemic: people who were isolated because of 
domestic abuse already are likely to be more so during a lockdown.  They are less visible to services 
and less able to seek help. Victims/survivors of sexual abuse are also less likely to report. And people 
who were most vulnerable already would have felt this impact most keenly e.g. people that have 
been shielding on health grounds at risk of domestic or sexual abuse. Services contacting shielding 
people need to be confident to respond to disclosures and aware of domestic and sexual abuse 
pathways.  
 
Conversely, for those that were not living with an abuser during lockdown some agencies have 
reported that victims/survivors have been able to use lockdown as an excuse to end the relationship 
and stop further contact with the perpetrator.  
 
Initially the lockdown meant a reduction in referrals for support locally – both to domestic and 
sexual abuse services. The chart below illustrates weekly monitoring of the calls and referrals to the 
community based domestic abuse support service IDAS illustrating the dip in referrals in March as 
lockdown started:  

                                                           
4 A Typology of Domestic Violence: Intimate Terrorism, Violent Resistance, and Situational Couple Violence 
Michael P Johnson July 2008  

Page 26

http://www.idas.org.uk/


3 
 

  
 
In June, however, when compared with the quarter 1 average in the last three years, referrals, 
helpline calls and numbers of high risk cases all showed an increase, as they did in July but not quite 
to the same extent:  
 

 
 
As lockdown eased in June the data above demonstrates that referrals were being made by 
professionals as victims/survivors began to make contact with agencies again and / or worried 
friends, family and neighbours alerted services.  Indications are that this upward trend, although 
uneven, will continue as lockdown continues to ease with referrals to IDAS since February 2020 now 
averaging 104 a week – up 11% from last year.  High risk cases showed the biggest rise in June – up 
by over a quarter on the previous year. This indicates that the severity of domestic abuse has 
increased in lockdown and it is likely that situations have escalated more rapidly during this time as 
well.  
 
Spitting at people, using the threat of infection, threats to report people to authorities for breaching 
stay at home guidance and depriving them of their liberty have all been more common factors raised 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

24/02/20 24/03/20 24/04/20 24/05/20 24/06/20 24/07/20

Domestic Abuse Service Helpline Contacts and 
Referrals In 2020

Helpline Contacts 2020 Referrals In 2020 High risk 2020

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

140.0

Q1 18/19 weekly
average

Q1 19/20 weekly
average

Q1 20/21 weekly
average

June 2020 weekly
average

July 2020 weekly
average

DA Service Activity Comparison

Referrals In Helpline contacts High Risk Referrals In

Page 27



4 
 

at Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference meetings (that consider people at high risk of serious 
harm or homicide because of domestic abuse) since lockdown.  Risk to family members as a result of 
threats to infect is a concern felt keenly by children in particular. Also at MARAC several perpetrators 
were reported to have been reported to be flagrantly ignoring shielding and distancing by visiting 
other people, deliberately raising the risks to partners/victims. Fears about COVID causing barriers to 
accessing support have been reported by survivors to services. One woman said she was scared to 
leave and come to the refuge because she thought there would be lots of people sharing rooms, she 
was happy when she arrived and found she had the option to self isolate. Another survivor reported 
that when she had the symptoms of Coronavirus prior to coming to refuge - she wasn't allowed to 
self isolate. The perpetrator (father of their child) moved their 12 year old son into the same room as 
her so he would catch it too. Another woman told Women’s Aid her abusive partner threatened her 
with COVID - that he would make sure she got it, as she had other health issues she was worried, but 
her next door neighbour supported her get help. In another case a woman with three children said 
her abusive husband kept bringing lots of men to her house for gaming and she had to sit with them 
with her children in the same room, and was frightened they would get COVID. She rang the refuge 
and they supported her to leave. 
 
The high number of high risk cases has meant that extra day long MARAC meetings have had to be 
scheduled during July and August.  With regard to Police referrals the BBC has reported that:  
‘Figures show there were 8,517 domestic abuse incidents reported in April to the North, West and 
South Yorkshire police forces compared to 7,693 for the same period last year. In addition, more 
than 2,500 domestic abuse arrests were made in the same month - nearly a third more than the 
previous April. In South Yorkshire, the number of domestic abuse arrests in April rose by 50% 
compared to the same month in 2019. Supt Shelley Hemsley, the force's lead for domestic abuse, 
said measures had been brought in during the lockdown to make it easier for people to report 
domestic abuse. She said there had been 250 contacts made to police via an online reporting 
method as opposed to having to use the telephone, which could be harder for victims.’5 
 
Data for Sheffield from SYP shows that reports of Domestic Abuse rose from 1852 in the 8 weeks 

from 15th March, to 2024 in the 8 weeks from the 10th May to the 4th of July, an increase of 170 

reports or 9.2%. At the same time criminal trials have mostly been suspended which will leave those 

that do wish to pursue a conviction waiting a long time before they get to court – prolonging stress 

and anxiety. The National Domestic Abuse Helpline has reported a large rise in contacts since 

lockdown - 40,000 calls and contacts during the first three months of lockdown.  In June, calls and 

contacts were nearly 80% higher than usual6. This large increase is likely to be due to its national 

prominence. Unfortunately we are unable to see evidence of these referrals filtering through to a 

local level – the National Helpline signposts to local services rather than making referrals which 

makes local data capture problematic and also suggests that take up of signposting options from the 

National Helpline has not been high. It is therefore important that local helplines are promoted as 

these can ensure victims/survivors are linked up quickly with local support services.  

Other local third sector support services have also reported a rise in referrals e.g. Ashiana and 

Roshni – both specialising in support for BAME women, Shelter – who work with domestic abuse 

survivors through their homelessness prevention and resettlement support service, and the 

Together Women Project who support women offenders and deliver young women’s engagement 

projects.  

 

                                                           
5 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-53493263 
6 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-53498675 

Page 28



5 
 

Homelessness presentations from March to July this year where the main reason was loss of home 

due to domestic abuse rose by 28.4% from the same period last year: 211 presentations in 2019 and 

271 in 2020. And this is in contrast to the fall in homeless presentations overall during lockdown: 

Sheffield City Council’s Housing Solutions has seen between 75-85% fewer presentations per month. 

The Sheffield Safeguarding Hub – the Council’s front door for reporting concerns about children – 

saw a reduction in contacts from 2130 in February this year to 1682 in May. However domestic 

abuse cases rose from being 22% of contacts in February to 29% in May. There were also 251 more 

contacts of a domestic abuse nature in the period March – May 2020 than there were in the same 

period in 2019.  

 

Sexual abuse services have seen a similar pattern with regard to referrals since lockdown. Sheffield 

Rape and Sexual Abuse Centre saw referrals for both it’s counselling service and to it’s Independent 

Sexual Violence Advisors (who support victims/ survivors through the criminal justice process if they 

choose to pursue a conviction), dip and then begin to recover by June as the graphs below illustrate:  

 

 
 

The dip is much clearer in relation to counselling referrals indicating that access to therapeutic and 

mental health support became difficult during lockdown which will have consequences down the 

line as people have not had the support they need to help them recover from the trauma of abuse. 

Sexual abuse, assaults and violence are usually perpetrated by someone the victim/survivor knows, 

and this can be a partner, ex-partner, family member etc. as sexual abuse is also a feature of 

domestic abuse and therefore lockdown will have impacted on victims/survivors in similar ways. 

However where the perpetrator is an acquaintance, friend or in a small number of cases a stranger 

then lockdown is likely to have impacted by reducing the capacity to seek support rather than 

exacerbating the abuse itself. Exceptions to this will be where victims were locked down with their 

abusers but no intimate relationship existed e.g. in houses of multiple occupancy or where the 

sexual abuse was perpetrated by a carer.  

 

Therapeutic services such as counselling and therapy services initially faced significant barriers to 

resuming their offer of support during lockdown and as lockdown eased. Services such as SRASAC 

immediately began telephone check ins with counselling clients but were concerned about resuming 

Page 29

https://srasac.org.uk/
https://srasac.org.uk/


6 
 

in depth counselling sessions with people impacted by trauma by phone rather than face to face.  

However Rape Crisis England have since developed an online secure counselling room service that 

SRASAC are now using to offer to those clients who wish to / are able to use this method of online 

support – see section on digital exclusion. Victims / survivors of domestic and sexual abuse are all 

recovering from trauma, both recent and often historic – especially in the case of adult survivors of 

child sexual abuse. Lockdown has meant that for those who were already in support / treatment 

their recovery has been interrupted and for those traumatised during lockdown they face an even 

longer wait than before to access therapy or counselling.  

 

The Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Improvement Board for the city agreed a paper in 
September 2019 that highlighted issues with lack of capacity and unclear local pathways in relation 
to therapeutic support for survivors of domestic and /or sexual abuse and which recommended the 
establishment of a task and finish group to consider these issues – unfortunately this has not yet 
been set up. Members of the Domestic Abuse Service User Reference Group were keen to point out 
that lockdown will have had an additional significant impact on the mental health of victims / 
survivors, many of whose mental health would already have been impacted by their experience of 
abuse. IDAS also report that access to mental health services has become more difficult during the 
pandemic. Recent research (as yet unpublished) by the Transforming health and social care in Kent 
and Medway partnership highlights the link between suicide and domestic abuse e.g. finding that 
over 60% of high risk victims had felt suicidal and / or attempted suicide, and that out of 93 
Domestic Homicide Reviews published in England and Wales since 2016, over a quarter (26%) 
contained a suicide; either that of the victim or perpetrator (murder/suicide). 
 

A key pressure during lockdown and since has been the difficulties in accessing safe accommodation.  

Refuge spaces and move on accommodation, including the additional temporary dispersed capacity 
commissioned locally and then expanded as part of the CV19 response, are mostly full up. This is 
because tenancy quittings reduced dramatically and the Choice Based Lettings system was paused 
(in line with government guidance) and remains suspended at time of writing although there are 
plans to reintroduce it in the autumn. Only people assessed as in critical need are being offered 
tenancies and viewing of properties is not currently allowed although steps are being taken to 
address this issue, meaning that move on refuges and other supported or temporary 
accommodation  is very slow. This means that when people have reached a decision that leaving an 
abusive situation is their best option it is very hard to find them somewhere suitable to move to. 
Limited options may mean people stay with or return to abusers. Housing providers / support 
organisations have also seen large rises in demand. For example, Guinness Trust in Sheffield have 
reported a 20% rise in domestic abuse cases. Combined with the rise in homelessness presentations 
due to domestic abuse this situation has meant that agencies have had to accommodate women and 
children in B and Bs (which are often not suitable environments for traumatised individuals and 
vulnerable children) and hotels.  
 
Health services such as the Emergency Department at the Teaching Hospitals Trust initially reported 
a slump in domestic abuse cases coming through however domestic abuse related presentations 
have risen again as lockdown has eased.  
 
Voluntary sector support services have all responded quickly to the lockdown and found creative 
ways of maintaining contact with clients e.g. through the use of zoom, WhatsApp, through socially 
distanced walks etc. Staff continued to be onsite at the refuges during lockdown to offer reassurance 
and support.  The Council has made PPE available to refuge staff and St Luke’s Hospice were 
commissioned to provide training via zoom on using PPE safely. Space in refuge buildings was 
adapted to ensure socially distanced face to face contact e.g using the lounges as a keywork rooms 

Page 30



7 
 

and using the outside spaces more. The play leaders at the refuges made video contact with every 
child every day and supplied materials (arts/crafts/bake a cake/dance off/making rainbows) to enjoy 
in their own flat with their mum. Face to face (socially distanced and family specific) play sessions 
resumed from the 1st June 2020 - encouraging mums to 'play' with their children and using the 
outside space no matter what the weather. Sheffield Women’s Aid have ensured regular food bank 
and Food Pharmacy deliveries for residents. Work has also been ongoing to put in measures for 
testing and tracing in accommodation provision like refuges and upgraded business continuity plans 
will be an expected outcome in case of further outbreaks. 
 
Alongside the online reporting form developed by SYP, agencies such as IDAS have increased their 
offer of webchat facilities and introduced webchat for professionals wanting to discuss a case. These 
options have been promoted on social media along with the silent 999 option for alerting the Police 
if it is too dangerous to speak. They have also been able to bid for substantial government funding 
that was not available to local authorities e.g. £485,000 came to specialist domestic and sexual 
abuse organisations in South Yorkshire form the Ministry of Justice via the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner a large proportion of which came to those working in Sheffield. Charities such 
as Women’s Aid have also managed to secure funding from businesses such as John Lewis to enable 
purchase of equipment for residents. Information about local services was sent to Pharmacies 
participating in the national Safe Spaces scheme providing an option for victims/survivors needing to 
seek help who could not use the phone or internet to do so. Members of the Sheffield Domestic 
Abuse Service User  Reference Group felt that this sort of initiative should be encouraged and 
expanded.  

 
 
Digital exclusion is a key concern raised by local support providers - while some service users have 
welcomed WhatsApp calls etc. (refuge residents have their own whatsapp groups etc. to combat 
isolation) others do not have access to equipment, cannot afford to use it or do not have Wi-Fi, do 
not have the skills, or perhaps most importantly for this client group - do not have somewhere safe 
and confidential to use it. This links to coercive control and isolation – even if you have the 
equipment and skills, if you are isolated at home with your abusive partner you may not be able to 
use online means to access support. There is also likely to be pressure due to children being at home 
who may not be able to access lessons, support, or entertainment either or there may be competing 
demands in a household.  There is also a limit to the size of groups that can be conducted via online 
platforms.  Some agencies, voluntary and statutory, are providing equipment to vulnerable families 
they are working with thanks to additional funding. These issues also apply to children and young 
people being supported by local services such as Haven (the local specialist service supporting 
children and young people affected by domestic abuse) who have found that some of those that 
they are working with:  

 Lack the ability to maintain safe space/contact (e.g. the perpetrator may be present and 

Page 31

https://uksaysnomore.org/safespaces/
https://www.havenorg.uk/


8 
 

entering in support can provide extra pressure, worry and risk for the young person as the 
perpetrator may think they are sharing details of the abuse) 

 A lack of private space means that young people do not feel able to communicate. 

 Young people often do not have access to technology and borrowing phones etc. from 
carers can be problematic. Support can be disrupted with the notifications/messages etc. 
and sometimes carers are reluctant to give up their phone for an hour or just don’t have the 
data to spare. 

 Or in some cases the relationship wasn’t built with the practitioner prior to lockdown and 
this can impact on the young person’s ability to engage remotely  

 The young person had additional issues which impacted on their ability to communicate 
(prior to lockdown) e.g. anxiety, emotional regulation, able to ‘be still’ and this was even 
more problematic when communicating online.  

 
Poverty  
Poverty as a result of domestic or sexual abuse has always been an issue due to having to leave your 
home or job or support networks to escape it, but also due to national / structural issues such as 
benefit caps imposed in recent years. Shelter have reported that during the pandemic there have 
been problems in relation to housing benefit for example, where this is set at a level that precludes 
access to private rented accommodation or results in growing arrears.  According to the Sheffield 
Star7 ‘Department for Work and Pensions figures show 866 households had their benefits capped in 
Sheffield in May. This was a rise of 61% on the number capped in February, when there were 537 
families who had either their housing benefit or Universal Credit payment reduced.’ 
 
Children 
The NSPCC have seen an increase in the number of people contacting the NSPCC helpline about 
domestic abuse, rising from an average of around 140 contacts a week earlier this year 
 to an average of around 185 contacts a week since the government’s stay at home guidance was 
issued.8The themes the NSPCC have identified from these contacts are:  

 lockdown bringing domestic abuse into sharp focus 

 making it harder for children and young people to speak out 

 making it more difficult to leave 

 parental drinking during lockdown has increased  

 abusive parents have been exploiting fears about the coronavirus 

 young people are worried about other family members. 
 
A common view among the public and professionals is that children are affected by domestic abuse 
if they have ‘witnessed’ it however increasing understanding of coercive control has enabled us to 
improve our awareness of the long lasting harmful impact of living with an abuser has on children 
whether they are directly physically harmed or not. As Dr Emma Katz asserts: ‘Perpetrators’/fathers’ 
coercive control places children in isolated, disempowering and constrained worlds which can 
hamper children’s resilience and healthy development and contribute to emotional and behavioural 
problems…Children may be harmed by non-physical abusive behaviours inherent to coercive 
control-based domestic violence, including continual monitoring, isolation and 
verbal/emotional/psychological and financial abuses’.9  
 
During lockdown long term emotional harm risk to children is a concern due to them living with 

                                                           
7 Sheffield Star 21/08/2020 
8 https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2020/coronavirus-insight-briefing-domestic-abuse 
9https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281633706_Beyond_the_Physical_Incident_Model_How_Children
_Living_with_Domestic_Violence_are_Harmed_By_and_Resist_Regimes_of_Coercive_Control 

Page 32

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2020/coronavirus-insight-briefing-domestic-abuse


9 
 

domestic abuse and not having access to normal support mechanisms (school, friendship groups, 
family members etc.).  Haven have been funded by SCC during lockdown to increase their capacity so 
that they can work with more vulnerable children impacted by Domestic Abuse. A new process of 
checking child protection cases against domestic abuse service records has started during lockdown 
and this has established that 80% of families discussed at child protection conference have had some 
history of involvement with domestic abuse services indicating the scale of the overlap between the 
two issues. For some families, the impact of home schooling and home working will have been 
significant, especially if this is impacting on a perpetrators mental health and increasing substance 
misuse and anger issues within the home. Operation Encompass, the sharing of information about 
police call outs re. domestic abuse with relevant schools, was initially paused at the start of 
lockdown but has been re-offered in a revised form to schools for safe operation while most children 
have been at home, with extra resources provided to support safe contact with victims.  
 
Haven have reported that lockdown has had a significant impact on their clients: ‘Many of the CYP 
we support have some level of mental distress, many issues relate to anxiety and CYP have struggled 
to maintain attendance at school – we will need to work with teachers to recognise the impact of 
abuse and how they can adopt a more trauma informed approach in managing behaviours that 
could be masking the inability to managing emotions, disassociation etc.  Additional support will be 
needed for CYP to help them cope in returning to schools that are likely to feel unfamiliar and 
unsafe.’ Women’s Aid reported issues as formal contact arrangements via Social Care were stopped. 
This meant one of their residents didn't see her child at all during lockdown. Although social care 
supported video contact - this didn't work as the child was 1 years old. Her solicitors and the Court 
couldn't help. Mum was really struggling with this (contact went from 3 x a week to nothing) and self 
medicated using drugs and alcohol after being 'dry and stable' for months. A member of the 
Domestic and Sexual Abuse service user group also said that contact with her child’s father through 
remote means was impossible due to the child’s age.  
 
A new model of working with families affected by domestic abuse has started to be introduced 
during lockdown because of the concerns that domestic abuse would be escalating for some 
families, at the same time that engagement was becoming more difficult. Therefore professionals 
needed to increase their skills and become more domestic abuse informed in the current 
circumstances. Dr Emma Katz is clear that ‘responsibility for the impacts on children of coercive 
control-based domestic violence should be placed with the perpetrator (usually fathers/father-
figures) and not with the victimised parent (usually mothers)’10and the Safe and Together model that 
children’s and domestic abuse practitioners have started to be trained on in spring / summer 2020 is 
one that is a child centred; a strengths based approach that seeks to develop the capacity and 
understanding of practitioners to safely respond to domestic abuse by partnering with the non-
abusing parent.  The model responds to domestic abuse by removing victim blaming and instead 
placing a specific focus on the perpetrator’s behaviours. Safe and Together is specifically designed to 
focus on promoting the best interests of children focusing on safety, permanency, recovery from 
trauma and well-being. It strengthens the ability of services to understand how the perpetrator is 
creating harm or the risk of harm to children. This perpetrator pattern based aspect of the model 
ensures that fathers who are perpetrators will be held to the same standard of parenting 
expectations as mothers.   Setting high standards for fathers helps children because it guarantees a 
more comprehensive assessment of risk, safety and protective factors and increases the 
effectiveness of the system in engaging men to become better fathers.  It is intended that the 
programme will be rolled out across the city by trainers from the Strengthening Families specialist 
domestic abuse team working with social care in the council and trainers from IDAS.  
 

                                                           
10 Emma Katz ibid 

Page 33

https://www.havenorg.uk/
https://safeandtogetherinstitute.com/


10 
 

Members of the Domestic and Sexual Abuse Service User Reference Group felt that the Family 
Courts process was even more difficult than usual during COVID e.g. re. making contact with court 
staff or sorting our problems such as ensuring Courts were not sending documents to the wrong 
solicitor.  
 
Young People  
Haven has outlined some of the harmful impacts of the lockdown on the young people they support 
as follows:  

 Young people are experiencing greater degrees of isolation and are being forced to spend 
more time in the home environment, with none or little respite – for many children and 
young people this is not a safe place to be.  

 For some children and young people contact they were having with non-abusing parents has 
been stopped 

 Some children and young people are breaching ‘lockdown’ requirements that is bringing 
them in contact with the police and in conflict with communities 

 Children and young people are engaging in ‘risky’ behaviour, becoming vulnerable to 
exploitation both criminal and sexual11  

 Young people are lacking access to privacy and activities that help them to manage their 
mental health and wellbeing and for those unable to communicate remotely, professional 
support has also stopped. This means that for some the progress they had made in dealing 
with destructive feelings and behaviours has been eroded and as a result mental health is 
suffering with increasing in depression, anxiety, poor self-care and a lack of motivation - 
some CYP that were accessing support have become withdrawn. 

 Safe people and contacts are no-longer accessible, particularly those that found school and 
or social, sport or friendships groups - the places where they would find people to talk about 
their worries and/or make disclosures of significant harm. 

The NSPCC also make the latter point in relation to disclosure of sexual abuse – these are less likely 
in lockdown situations especially if the abuser is a family member.12  
 
SAYiT the local specialist LGBT+ young people’s service report that LGBT young people have been  
more at risk of abuse when living in lockdown with homophobic family members. There have also 
been concerns raised, particularly by the Children’s NHS Foundation Trust that child to parent abuse 
has risen during lockdown – systems are not in place to quantify this however. Data from IDAS 
shows an increase in referrals in quarter 1 2020 compared to last year of those aged 16 and 17 from 
1.5% to 1.8%, aged 18 from 1.3% to 1.7% and 19 from 2% of all referrals to 2.6%. These numbers are 
still low e.g. 26 16/17 year olds during lockdown  
 
Older people 
Referrals of those aged 65+ to IDAS increased during quarter one to 4.1% compared to 3.5% of all 
referrals last year. Older people are more likely to have other health conditions, be disabled or be 
shielding. They are also more likely to be living with a perpetrator who is also at home if they are a 
partner / spouse.  It is important to remember that older people are not all heterosexual. 
Stonewall’s most recent report13 into the topic showed that lesbian, gay and bi people over 55 are 
more likely to be single and live alone, and less likely to have children or regularly see family 
members than straight people. If LGBT+ older people are living with an abuser then getting help may 
be even more difficult than for their heterosexual peers. The proportion of referrals where the 
perpetrator was identified as an adult child of the victim / survivor has increased in quarter 1 from 

                                                           
11 A finding echoed by NSPCC https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/media/2246/isolated-and-struggling-social-
isolation-risk-child-maltreatment-lockdown-and-beyond.pdf 
12 NSPCC ibid  
13 https://www.stonewall.org.uk/resources/lesbian-gay-and-bisexual-people-later-life-2011 

Page 34



11 
 

4.6% last year to 6% during lockdown. A finding of a local case review was that agencies sometimes 
do not recognise this form of abuse as domestic abuse and risk assessments and referrals are 
sometimes not undertaken, this rise in referrals during lockdown emphasises the need agencies to 
be alert to adult family violence as a form of domestic abuse.  
 
Gender  
Women generally are more likely to be affected by domestic abuse and more likely to experience 
repeated or severe domestic abuse. The evidence for this is outlined in Sheffield’s Domestic and 
Sexual Abuse Strategy. The gender split of referrals has stayed the same as last year during the 
lockdown period e.g. around 89% female 11% male. There are a small number of people this year 
(and last) who are non binary, or who prefer to self describe their gender and a small number who 
disclosed their gender is now different to that which was assigned to them at birth. The proportion 
of males presenting as homeless due to domestic abuse has risen during lockdown by 71% from 24 
to 41 between March and July. The SafeZones dispersed safe accommodation project has enabled 3 
men to access safe housing during the lockdown period and it is intended to review the effectiveness 
of this offer in the autumn and make a case for longer term investment.  
 
The South Yorkshire voluntary perpetrator programme Inspire to Change has seen a rise in 
engagement during lockdown. Of the referrals they received during the quarter 210 were males and 
75 were females however the provider (South Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company) has 
expressed a view that a proportion of the referrals of women were inappropriate as they are women 
who are the primary victim in the situation but who have retaliated or ‘used violent resistance’14 
against the primary perpetrator.  
 
Pregnant women 
The proportion of pregnant women referred to IDAS declined during the lockdown period from 
13.8% last year to 11.5%. Midwifery services have however reported that they have seen some 
increase in disclosures during scan appointments etc. as partners are now not allowed to accompany 
women to these appointments. Conversely, where appointments have been at home there have 
been more issues seeing women alone in order to ask routine enquiry questions.  
 
The Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has reported that the rapid introduction of 
telemedicine into the abortion service has helped the majority of women experiencing domestic 
abuse (but not all women) access care. Women can now self refer to abortion services if required so 
they do not need to see GP or sexual health services.  
 
Sexual orientation  
The proportion of IDAS service users that identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual increased during 
lockdown compared with last year: from 2.6% to 3.8%. This may be linked to the work that SAYiT 
have been conducting for the city through the Call it Out project which aims to increase awareness 
of LGBT+ people’s experience of domestic abuse and increase the skills and confidence of 
professionals – specialist and non specialist in responding. Manchester’s LGBT Foundation has 
conducted surveys during COVID and found that 8% of respondents did not feel safe where they 
were currently staying.  This included 9% of BAME LGBT people, 15% of disabled LGBT people, 17% 
of trans people and 17% of non-binary people. The LGBT Foundation’s Domestic Abuse programme 
had seen a 38% increase in number of people referred for domestic abuse support again indicating 
that there is more work to be done in Sheffield in relation to engaging marginalised communities in 
domestic abuse support.   
 

                                                           
14 Johnson 2008 ibid  

Page 35

https://sheffielddact.org.uk/domestic-abuse/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2013/05/Domestic-And-Sexual-Abuse-Strategy-2018-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://sheffielddact.org.uk/domestic-abuse/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2013/05/Domestic-And-Sexual-Abuse-Strategy-2018-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://sayit.org.uk/callitout/


12 
 

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people  
In 2019/20 34.4% of IDAS service users were BAME. In Q1 of 20/21 the proportion is 27.4%. The 
most significant reductions were in relation to people identifying as: Arabic (8.3% to 4.6%), Asian 
other  (i.e. not Bangladeshi, Pakistani, Indian or Chinese: down from  5.7% to 5%) and Black other 
(i.e. not African or Caribbean down from 4.7% to 3.9%).  The pandemic and lockdown have 
potentially increased barriers to accessing support amongst the BAME community. Specialist 
agencies have reported that some BAME women are likely to more be more isolated and have less 
access to usual supportive agencies and / or technology to help them access support. Some of the 
problem will be in relation to language barriers. The majority of social media messages have been in 
English however at the time of writing a card translated into community languages is being printed 
for distribution via food banks and other community outreach provision. Shelter have reported that  
people without regularised immigration status fleeing domestic abuse are also experiencing 
problems accessing emergency accommodation. And the higher level of incidence of COVID 19 in the 
BAME community has also raised issues – a local health trust reported a recent case involving a 
BAME staff member where the risk of isolation and coercive control by their family members was 
heightened as they argued that the victim/survivor should not leave the household to go to work for 
fear of them being exposed to COVID in the community or workplace and potentially bringing the 
virus back to the home. Local specialist services – Ashiana and Roshni have reported a rise in 
referrals and while their overall referral levels are low compared with IDAS this may indicate that 
more could be done to work jointly with BAME specialist organisations to safeguard and support 
victims/survivors. The proportion of people referred to IDAS who described themselves as being at 
risk due to forms of abuse more prevalent in certain cultures (i.e. Forced Marriage, so called 
‘Honour’ Based Abuse and Female Genital Mutilation) has not changed over lockdown.  Some 
victims/survivors with no recourse to public funds have faced additional barriers to access support: 
one survivor was trafficked into the country as a child. As well as experiencing domestic abuse she 
had been sex working to support her children and maintain her privately rented flat. During 
lockdown she stopped working and sought help from school who helped her access a refuge. 
Another woman with one child said her husband told her she wasn’t allowed to leave because the 
government won’t allow it due to COVID, she would have her child removed and she would be 
arrested. The woman was from Iran, English was her second language, so she believed him. 
Children’s Social Care got involved and she was then supported to leave. 
 
Religion and Belief  
There appears to have been little if any change in the proportions of people who declared their 
religion or belief, or that they had none, during the pandemic.  
 
Marital Status  
A higher proportion of IDAS clients were married in quarter 1 compared to last year, up to 14.7% 
from 12%. However the biggest change was in terms of those stating they were single at the time of 
receiving the service – up from 20% last year to 27% during the lockdown. However a proportion of 
the perpetrators in these cases must be a family member rather than an ex-partner as the number 
of perpetrators that were described as ‘current partners’ has increased during lockdown (28.5% to 
32.7%) while the proportion of perpetrators that are ex-partners has decreased (from 40.2% to 
37.6%). This may highlight the negative impact that lockdown has had on some couples, and the 
reduction in ex-partner domestic abuse could mean that lockdown has led to less contact with 
people outside the home. 
 
Working age people  
During lockdown, employees that are experiencing domestic abuse may be more at risk due to 
isolation and the abuser using lockdown to control them further. It is therefore important to check in 
with them regularly and:  

Page 36



13 
 

• if staff are home based – managers should ensure that  information about online support  is shared 
and that this includes technology security tips, such as how to hide or clear your browsing history, 
without arousing suspicion;  
• Managers should have regular; structured 1-2-1s/contact with all team members, including those 
who are subject to sickness leave or furloughed;  
• Managers should help support staff wellbeing by sensitively asking how they feel about the 
changes to their working environment and what support they have at home; 
• Managers should ensure they have sufficient time with staff and undertake 1-2-1s via video calls to 
check in.   
The pandemic has made it clear how important it is that agencies have policies in place to support 
staff affected by domestic abuse – Business in the Community updated their toolkit for employers in 
April.  
 
Disability  
National evidence15 tells us that disabled people are at higher risk of serious harm due to domestic 
abuse in non lockdown circumstances. During Q1 2020/21 41.7% of IDAS service users are recorded 
as having a disability – however around 20% of clients were not asked / the data is not recorded. 
This is in comparison to 24.5% of service users during 2019/20. This may be a positive change in the 
rate of accessing support for people with disabilities due to new remote routes in / increased 
promotion of alternative methods to access support. During lockdown, for people with disabilities 
who were experiencing domestic abuse isolation will again have increased, and risk and severity of 
abuse are likely to have increased as well. Specific disabilities will result in particular issues during 
lockdown e.g. people with hearing difficulties will face further barriers when support is offered by 
phone or zoom unless they have specialist equipment. People with care and support needs will 
however still have been getting visits if health or social care agencies were providing their care.  
 
Carers can be at risk of domestic abuse themselves. Sheffield has undertaken domestic homicide and 
serious case reviews where the victim has been a carer. Again increased isolation during lockdown is 
likely to have exacerbated abusive behaviour.  Social care has reported a higher level of care 
arrangements breaking down in relation to people living with dementia during the lockdown period. 
Some of these circumstances will have involved abusive behaviour.   
 
Substance misuse  
Substance misuse does not cause domestic abuse but it can be a trigger and can increase the 
frequency or severity of abuse. Deteriorating mental health, fear and anxiety about the virus  and 
reduced access to or reluctance to engage with assessment , support, treatment for substance 
misuse during COVID may be impacting on both the victims/survivors and perpetrators and 
subsequently on any children present. Alcohol Concern found that 6%16 of people reported that 
COVID-19 had created more tension in the household. MARAC cases are showing high levels of 
substance misuse as additional factors / needs during COVID. The proportion of victims/ survivors 
supported by IDAS identified as problematic drinkers or drug users increased this quarter compared 
to last year: from 4.9 to 5.2% for alcohol users, and 2.9% to 3.7% for drug users, as substance misuse 
is a coping mechanism for some victims/survivors this is another possible indication of the stresses 
of lockdown. A single woman who was living on the streets and a drug user, told services she was 
scared because she found it impossible to socially distance, but after coming to refuge and 
developing symptoms of COVID she was able to isolate and recover. Sheffield Women’s Aid 
supported her by picking up her script and bought her shopping in and accessed food bank 
donations (her benefits were not in payment at the time). She said if she was still on the streets, ill 
and being abused, she believes she would be dead now. 

                                                           
15 https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Disabled%20Survivors%20Too%20CORRECTED.pdf 
16 https://alcoholchange.org.uk/blog/2020/covid19-drinking-during-lockdown-headline-findings  

Page 37

https://www.bitc.org.uk/toolkit/covid-19-domestic-abusesupporting-employees/
https://alcoholchange.org.uk/blog/2020/covid19-drinking-during-lockdown-headline-findings


14 
 

 
Perpetrators  
The voluntary perpetrator programme Inspire to Change  has seen increased issues for their clients 
with regard to substance misuse during the pandemic – e.g. large rises in referrals relating to alcohol 
especially during the bank holiday periods of lockdown.  They have also seen a large rise in referrals 
generally – mostly due to changes in police practice - this time last year Inspire to Change received 
approximately 121 referrals, by mid July this year they had already received 57617. Structured group 
programmes are not going ahead as yet and clients are reported to be missing the peer contact 
which leads to more effective rehabilitation. However they are still running drop-in groups over the 
phone once per month.  The service has posted lots of digital content and videos via its YouTube 
channel, and uptake has been positive, and the people attending have said it has been useful.   
Engagement has increased as a result of the change in offer – many clients have preferred telephone 
assessments to attending a building for their initial contact with the service. This has meant an 
increase in successful completions from 26 in the whole of 2019/20 to 18 in quarter one.  However 
the service was designed as a primarily group provision and therefore capacity is extremely 
stretched with most interventions now being one to one, and no COVID related government funds 
being made available to perpetrator focussed services.  

 

 

Recommendations: 

How do you suggest this information can be used to ensure negative impacts are mitigated in our 

future decision making? For example: 

 How can we/the city prevent or mitigate any negative impacts?  

 How might our services/approach flex to meet the needs identified here to aid recovery?  

 What are the good things happening that we want to keep? How could we do this?  

 If there’s no such thing as business as usual any more, are there opportunities for more 

radical change?  

 What more do we need to know?  

 

The impact of lockdown is likely to be felt for some time for people impacted by domestic and sexual 
abuse, we are expecting that service capacity will be under pressure for several months at least. 
Voluntary sector services and specialist teams in statutory services (e.g. the Strengthening Families 
domestic abuse team) have been responsive and flexible during the pandemic. However domestic 
and sexual abuse were not created by the pandemic, and while these issues have no doubt had 
terrible impacts on individuals of all ages during lockdown but they did so beforehand as well. We 
need to continue with developing joined up multi agency responses to domestic and sexual abuse 
that take heed of emerging best practice and take a whole family approach. Several of these themes 
are already captured in Sheffield’s Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2018-22 which we will 
continue to implement. In addition, we must:  
Invest in services for all those impacted by domestic abuse – victims / survivors, children and 
perpetrators, and increase capacity where needed to ensure needs are met  

- Continue to commission good quality victim / survivor support services that have enough 
capacity to respond to the need in the city. IDAS is receiving an average of 104 referrals a 
week since lockdown, 19% of which are high risk. The capacity of the service is not enough 
to fully meet the needs of these victims/survivors many of whom have complex needs due 
to their experience of trauma, and support them to recover from the impact of abuse.  

- Work to ensure that commissioned services meet the needs of all sections of the population, 

                                                           
17 Reported at July 13th Domestic and Sexual Abuse Provider Consultation Group  

Page 38

http://www.inspiretochange.co.uk/
https://sheffielddact.org.uk/domestic-abuse/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2013/05/Domestic-And-Sexual-Abuse-Strategy-2018-2022-FINAL.pdf


15 
 

particularly BAME victims / survivors encouraging partnerships and joint working where 
expertise is needed. 

- Increase the capacity of specialist therapeutic support for victims/survivors of domestic and 
sexual abuse and review and rationalise pathways to and from mental health services. 

- Ensure commissioned services are trained in suicide prevention.  
- Invest in voluntary support for perpetrators. During COVID it has been proven that greater 

engagement is possible if the offer is right. We must put efforts into behaviour change to 
stop people ruining the lives of others, and usually their own lives, as a result of using abuse 
in relationships and in their parenting. Professionals must be trained to understand how to 
talk about domestic abuse with perpetrators in order to protect children and victims / 
survivors – the Safe and Together model must be rolled out and embedded in practice.  This 
will also promote better understanding of the impact of abuse on children and the need for 
trauma informed responses to victims/survivors of all ages.  

- Continue to promote awareness of services and how to access support, building on all that 
has been done during the pandemic including  continuing to identify safe spaces where 
people  can ask for support e.g. working with local businesses. Including finding ways to 
promote support messages discreetly and via languages other than English. 

- Promote digital inclusion including in safe spaces – libraries, children’s centres, schools etc.  
Find ways of offering group work support to people who are digitally excluded. This could be 
through considering mixed methods of delivery i.e. delivering a physical group with a very 
small number of people in a social distanced space with others connected in via Zoom on a 
screen.  This would mean the needs of those who really need to be seen face to face and 
those that need to isolate or simply cannot get into buildings would be met. Or if this is too 
difficult for group cohesion, begin offering small face to face groups alongside virtual groups 
for those that prefer them or can safely access them.  

Ensure there is adequate provision of good quality, safe, appropriate emergency accommodation 
with specialist support 

- Maintain and grow the new dispersed safe accommodation offer (currently funded by an 
MHCLG grant) as this has proved vital when refuge provision filled up, it also means families 
with children are less likely to be placed in unsuitable B and B accommodation. Promote the 
offer of safe accommodation to men and the LGBT community as this was the gap it was set 
up to fill prior to lockdown. 

- Consider providing more emergency safe accommodation for families with specialist support 
which can be accessed in an emergency that can flex and grow in times of emergency and / 
or consider remodelling existing provision.  

- Ensure better joined up working between support providers and housing so that move on is 
more streamlined from supported housing into sustainable tenancies. This means finding a 
way to enable viewings (virtually or in person) for direct lets.  

Improve responses from agencies and employers  
- Ensure organisations have effective domestic abuse policies covering both clients and staff 

and include responding to victims/survivors but also perpetrators.  
- Encourage attitudinal change in relation to domestic abuse.  Safe and Together will move 

the focus for agencies from ‘why doesn’t the victim leave’ to why doesn’t the perpetrator 
stop’. A greater understanding of coercive control and its impacts is still needed. This 
training should be mandatory for key professionals e.g. health, criminal justice agencies, 
voluntary sector providers, housing and social care.   

- Encourage all professionals and organisations to continue to work toward becoming trauma-
informed, to an approved standard. 
•       To complete a mapping exercise of trauma informed training across the borough 
•       To agree and adopt a set of trauma informed principles and standards 
Partners should self- assess against the agreed trauma informed principles and standard 

Page 39



16 
 

- Improve multi agency information sharing and creative joint working to increase 
engagement in support e.g. so that agencies co-ordinate appointments to enable attempts 
to engage victims when perpetrators are seeing agencies such as Probation or by working 
with universal services such as health and education.  

Prevent domestic and sexual abuse in the future by increasing understanding of the dynamics of 
abuse and the impact of trauma, and by branding Sheffield as a city where we foster healthy 
relationships  

- Encourage attitudinal change in relation to domestic abuse in terms of the general public.  
Attitudinal change and awareness of the issues could also be championed by key city leaders 
in order to provoke debate and discussion among the public.  

- Positively promote the importance of healthy respectful and nurturing relationships 
throughout the life course –as children, parents, in couples, as neighbours, as friends, as 
carers and as colleagues.  We should commit to making a statement about the importance 
of relationships as Rochdale has done in it’s Relationships Manifesto. This is being explored 
as a result of the work to connect and clarify the differences between responding to 
parental conflict and domestic abuse, and has been discussed with partners in SCC and 
public health with an initial agreement to explore further.   

- Roll out high quality Relationship and Sex Education in our educational settings. A recent 
article in the Lancet emphasised the importance of comprehensive sex education in 
combatting ‘gender based violence’: ‘GBV is a multifaceted issue, but the failure to 
implement comprehensive sexuality education (CSE) internationally puts all people at 
increased risk of violence. CSE includes developmentally and culturally relevant, science-
based, medically accurate information on a wide range of topics, including human 
development, gender identity, sexual behaviours, communication skills, empathy, and 
mutual respect. CSE teaches the skills needed to develop healthy relationships and to 
prevent and not perpetrate violence.’18 

- Support the roll out of bystander projects such as the Glasgow model Mentors in Violence 
Prevention which builds the skills of young people to challenge their peers around bullying, 
harassment and controlling relationships. This is part of the Violence Reduction Unit strategy 
which aims to ‘end domestic abuse’.  

Work with organisations such as the Local Government Association to raise national issues 
- Work with partners to pressure national government to ensure housing benefit is set at a 

level that helps secure access to private rentals and prevents growing arrears as a result of 
the pandemic.  The benefit cap must be lifted to ensure people receive the uplift in housing 
benefit and can flee domestic abuse to new tenancies they can afford.  

 

 

 

Contributors: 

 Membership of task and finish group 

 Other contributors or consultees (indicate whether contribution has already been made or is 

planned 

 Sheffield Domestic Abuse Service User Reference Group (facilitated by Sheffield Domestic 
Abuse Coordination Team Sheffield City Council) 

 IDAS (DA helpline and IDVAs)  

 Young Women’s Housing project  

 Haven (children and domestic abuse service)  

 SAYiT (currently delivering an LGBT+ domestic abuse project)  

                                                           
18 Comprehensive sexuality education to address gender-based violence, the Lancet Vol 396 July 18, 2020 

Page 40

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-02-12-relationship-manifesto-v1.pdf
https://www.svru.co.uk/mvp/
https://www.svru.co.uk/mvp/


17 
 

 Sheffield Rape and Sexual Abuse Centre  

 Sheffield Women’s Aid  

 Roshni  

 Ashiana  

 Vida Sheffield (therapeutic services)  

 Shelter  

 Together Women Project  

 Strengthening Families Domestic Abuse Team (SCC)  

 Guinness Partnership  

 South Yorkshire Housing Association  

 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner  

 South Yorkshire Police  

 Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust  

 Sheffield City Council Housing Services  

 Sheffield Safeguarding Hub  

 Sheffield City Council Housing Independence Service  

 Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Head of Commissioning Vulnerable People – Sheffield City Council  

 Sheffield Probation Service  

 Sheffield Health and Social Care Trust  

 Sheffield Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. 

 South Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company  

 

 

Methods and Sources of Intelligence: 

 Please give details of the various sources of information you plan to use to inform this 

Health Impact Assessment   

 Please also highlight any significant gaps in intelligence, for example relating to certain 

population groups 

 

Performance monitoring information relating to contracts commissioned by the Council has been 

used alongside information provided by Housing Solutions, the Sheffield Safeguarding Hub and 

South Yorkshire Police.  

 

A provider meeting was held on 15th June and a further meeting with a wider group of invitees was 

held on the 13th July. The RHIA and it’s recommendations was also discussed at the Domestic and 

Sexual Abuse Strategic Board on the 2nd July and the Domestic and Sexual Abuse Joint 

Commissioning Group on 13th August. Emails asking for contributions were sent to a large group of 

contacts from agencies ranging from statutory to voluntary sectors. Providers were also asked to 

consult with service users e.g. service user voices were provided by Sheffield Women’s Aid. Sheffield 

Domestic Abuse Service User Reference Group were also consulted on the draft report in August.  

Where policy or research has been used it has been indicated in references.  

 

 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Update on Domestic and Sexual Abuse during Covid 19
	Domestic and Sexual Abuse summary
	Covid 19 Rapid HIA Domestic and Sexual Abuse FINAL


